
 The City of Tukwila strives to accommodate individuals with disabilities.
Please contact the City Clerk’s Office at 206-433-1800 (TukwilaCityClerk@TukwilaWA.gov) for assistance. 

City of Tukwila 
P lanning and Community 
Development Committee 
 Hannah Hedrick, Chair
 Jovita McConnell 
 Verna Seal 

Distribution: 
J. McConnell
H. Hedrick
V. Seal

Mayor McLeod 
M. Wine
A. Youn
L. Humphrey

 AGENDA 
MONDAY, APRIL 14, 2025 – 5:30 PM 

ON-SITE PRESENCE: 
TUKWILA CITY HALL 

CITY COUNCIL CONFERENCE ROOM 
6200 SOUTHCENTER BOULEVARD 

REMOTE PARTICIPATION FOR THE PUBLIC: 
1-253-292-9750, ACCESS CODE: 866559860#
Click here to: Join Microsoft Teams Meeting

For Technical Support: 1-206-433-7155 

Item Recommended Action Page 

1. BUSINESS AGENDA

a. Ordinance Amending the Townhouse Allowances in the
Tukwila Urban Center (TUC)
Neil Tabor, Senior Planner 

b. Ordinance Amending the Residential Conversions Code
Neil Tabor, Senior Planner 

a. Forward to 4/28 C.O.W. &
5/5 Regular Meeting

b. Forward to 4/28 C.O.W. &
5/5 Regular Meeting

Pg.1 

Pg.17 

2. MISCELLANEOUS

Next Scheduled Meeting: May 12, 2025 

mailto:TukwilaCityClerk@TukwilaWA.gov
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ODcwZDgwYmUtN2VmYi00MjQ4LTk3MDgtODE5N2M2OGNlYzMx%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%226ea0f6bd-e8b7-4388-a3ba-ca42e373cec2%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22aae95f65-ae37-44d6-8916-64c1c53a6de0%22%7d




City of Tukwila 
Thomas McLeod, Mayor 

INFORMATIONAL MEMORANDUM

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee 

CC: Mayor Thomas McLeod 

FROM: Nora Gierloff, AICP, DCD Director 

BY: Neil Tabor, AICP, Senior Planner 

DATE: April 14, 2025 

SUBJECT: Removing Townhouses as a Permitted Use in the Tukwila Urban Center 

ISSUE 

The proposed code amendment to remove townhouses as a Permitted use in the Tukwila Urban 
Center would improve alignment of the City’s planned density goals for the Urban Center by 
removing a housing type that would not support attainment of the required density. 

BACKGROUND 

The Tukwila Urban Center is a regional 
center designated with the Puget Sound 
Regional Council for future growth, 
capitalizing on transit infrastructure to 
reduce car dependency. This Center 
designation under the Regional Growth 
Strategy, makes this area eligible for 
additional transportation funding that can 
improve these areas and help them 
transition into denser transit-oriented 
development over time. Under Puget Sound 
Regional Growth Center standards, one of 
requirement for a Center is that it plan for a 
minimum of 45 “activity units” per acre. This 
metric is a summation of jobs and housing 
units per acre.  

Currently, the Tukwila Urban Center 
contains approximately 22 activity units per 
acre, about half of the density for which the 
area is planned. This total is supported 
largely through area jobs, with recent 
housing growth in the last ten years 
beginning to help support the targeted activity unit total. 

1



Page 2 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

A public hearing on code amendment L25-0002 was held at the January 23rd, 2025, Planning 
Commission meeting. Commissioners entertained a motion to recommend that the City Council 
adopt the code amendment to remove townhouses as a permitted use within the Tukwila Urban 
Center, as included in the attached ordinance. An amendment was proposed to permit 
townhouses only as an accessory use, instead of strictly removing townhouses as a permitted 
use. The Commission’s vote was split 3 to 3 on this amendment to language proposed by the 
City. The language proposed in the attached ordinance reflects the original proposal as 
presented by staff without amendment. 

A link to the Planning Commission packet materials on this topic is provided here. Minutes of 
the January 23rd Planning Commission meeting are included in the packet as an attachment. 

ANALYSIS 

As the City plans for additional growth in the Urban Center, redevelopment should be 
encouraged to meet or exceed the minimum activity unit density planned for the area. While this 
naturally occurs, in part, from market demand and property values, development allowances 
should encourage uses which align with this density and should not permit uses that are not 
expected to support this density. Townhouses are one such use currently permitted in the TUC 
– Regional Center, TUC – Pond, TUC – TOD and partially within the TUC – Work Place zoning
districts, that would likely not meet the minimum density of 45 activity units per acre, if
developed. Generally, townhouses, even when constructed in an especially dense manner,
would not be expected to reach 30 units per acre. As townhouses will likely be permitted
throughout other residential zones within the City after the adoption of middle housing updates,
staff believes townhouses should be removed from the Tukwila Urban Center zones.

Language about comments received: 
The City received comments from a property owner in the TUC-TOD district wishing to maintain 
the ability to develop townhouses in relative proximity to the Green River shoreline. Shoreline 
regulations apply to the first 200 feet from the river, and   limit overall development allowed 
within this buffer. Staff do not support the addition of this exception as the City has committed to 
ensuring that development planned within its Urban Center supports the designated activity unit 
totals.   

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED CHANGES 

Staff proposes removing townhouses from the list of allowed dwelling types in Table 18-2, 
affecting the Tukwila Urban Center Regional Center, Transit Oriented Development and Pond 
Zoning Districts. 

Business 
license 

P = Permitted, A = Accessory, C = 
Conditional, UUP = Unclassified 
Use Permit 
For parking requirements see 
Table 18-5 or Figure 18-7 

Regional 
Center TOD 

Pond 
District 

Commercial 
Center 

Work-
Place 

Residential 

320 Dormitories A A 

Ref. 
above† 

Dwelling: Multi-family, Townhouses, 
Mixed Use, Senior Citizen Housing P P P P4 

510 Home Occupation A A A P4 

2

https://records.tukwilawa.gov/WebLink/1/edoc/419267/Planning%202025-01-23%20ITEM%206.3%20-%20Public%20Hearing%20-%20Townhouses%20in%20Tukwila%20Urban%20Center.pdf


Page 3 

270 
Continuing Care Retirement 
Community P P 

See TMC 18.28.260 for District specific parking standards. 
… 
4. Only on properties fronting the Green River or Minkler Pond.

Staff Report Criteria 

TMC 18.82.030 requires that staff reports for proposed amendments to development regulations 
address the five listed criteria in this section. As criteria pertain to both privately initiated code 
amendment applications and those proposed by the City, some criteria may not be as relevant 
for all code amendment proposals. Criteria and staff responses are listed below. 

1. An evaluation of the application materials;

Staff Response: Not applicable. 

2. Impact upon the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Code;

Staff Response: The proposed code amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan and 
does not require an amendment to the comprehensive plan.  

3. Impact upon surrounding properties, if applicable;

Staff Response: Not applicable. 

4. Alternatives to the proposed amendment; and

Staff Response: The City could consider two possible alternatives: 1) the City could continue to 
allow townhouses in the Urban Center, but allow them only an accessory use to another primary 
use, or 2) the City could make no changes in the code, and continue to allow townhouses in the 
Urban Center. Staff does not support either of these options, as they weaken or negate the 
City’s commitment to achieve planned housing and redevelopment densities required for the 
Urban Center.  

5. Appropriate code citations and other relevant documents.

Staff Response: More information on Tukwila’s Urban Center profile can be found here. 

Decision Criteria 

TMC 18.82.020, Decision Criteria provides criteria for the final City Council decision on 
proposed code amendments. 

Decision criteria are as follows: 

1. Is the amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan?
2. Does the amendment meet at least one of the following criteria:

a. Eliminates conflicts between TMC and the Comprehensive Plan; or
b. Accomplishes policy directives of the Council or Administration; or
c. Corrects an error or errors in the TMC.

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
3

https://psrcwa.shinyapps.io/centers-monitoring/


Page 4 

No direct costs to the City are expected from this code amendment. 

REQUESTED ACTION 
The Council is being asked to approve an ordinance to remove townhouses as a Permitted use 
in the Tukwila Urban Center, and to consider this item at the April 28, 2025, Committee of the 
Whole meeting, and subsequent May 5, 2025, Regular meeting.  

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Ordinance
B. Ordinance Exhibit A
C. 1/23/2025 Planning Commission Minutes

4



2025 Legislation: TUC Townhouse  Page 1 of 3 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TUKWILA, WASHINGTON, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2756 
§4, AS CODIFIED AT TUKWILA MUNICIPAL CODE (TMC)
TABLE 18-2, “TUKWILA URBAN CENTER LAND USES
ALLOWED BY DISTRICT”; TO UPDATE PERMITTED
RESIDENTIAL USES WITHIN THE TUKWILA URBAN CENTER
CONSISTENT WITH PUGET SOUND REGIONAL COUNCIL
DESIGNATED URBAN CENTER GOALS; PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Tukwila Urban Center is a designated urban center by the Puget Sound 
Regional Council (“PSRC”); and  

WHEREAS, PSRC designated urban centers guide regional growth allocations, inform 
transit service planning and represent priority areas for federal transportation funding; and 

WHEREAS, PSRC designated urban centers are required to plan to support a density 
of combined jobs and housing units of 45 activity units per acre over time; and 

WHEREAS, the Tukwila Urban Center only has about 22 activity units per acre; and 

WHEREAS, in order to plan for the minimum PSRC requirement of 45 activity units per 
acre, new uses with densities which are unlikely to achieve that density should be restricted; 
and 

WHEREAS, new townhouse development would not be expected to achieve the 
minimum PSRC requirement of 45 activity units per acre; and 

WHEREAS, on January 24, 2025, the City’s State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) 
Responsible Official issued a Determination of Non-Significance on the proposed 
amendments; and  

DRAFT

5



2025 Legislation: TUC Townhouse  Page 2 of 3 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

WHEREAS, on January 23, 2025, the Tukwila Planning Commission, following 
adequate public notice, held a public hearing to receive testimony concerning 
amendments to the Tukwila Municipal Code to remove townhouses as a permitted use in 
zoning districts within the Tukwila Urban Center, and at that meeting adopted a motion 
recommending that the City Council approve the proposed changes; and 

WHEREAS, on May 5, 2025, after considering the analysis and proposed code 
amendments prepared by City Staff, the recommendation from the Planning Commission, 
and the public comments received, the City Council desire to adopt code amendments as 
set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TUKWILA, 
WASHINGTON, HEREBY ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Adoption of Findings of Fact. The City Council finds as follows: 

A. The above recitals, set forth as “WHEREAS” clauses, are hereby adopted as
Findings of Fact in support of the adoption of this ordinance. 

B. The amendments that are established below comply with the requirements of the
Washington State Growth Management Act and the Tukwila Municipal Code. 

Section 2.  Ordinance No. 2756 §4, as codified at TMC Table 18-2, “Tukwila Urban 
Center Land Uses Allowed By District,” is hereby amended as referenced in Exhibit A.  

Section 3.  Corrections by City Clerk or Code Reviser Authorized.  Upon 
approval of the City Attorney, the City Clerk and the code reviser are authorized to make 
necessary corrections to this ordinance, including the correction of clerical errors; 
references to other local, state or federal laws, codes, rules, or regulations; or ordinance 
numbering and section/subsection numbering. 

Section 4.  Severability.  If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
phrase of this ordinance or its application to any person or situation should be held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional for any reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to any other person or situation. 

Section 5.  Effective Date.  This ordinance or a summary thereof shall be published 
in the official newspaper of the City, and shall take effect and be in full force five days 
after passage and publication as provided by law.   

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TUKWILA, WASHINGTON, at 
a Regular Meeting thereof this _______ day of ___________________, 2025. 

DRAFT

6



2025 Legislation: TUC Townhouse   Page 3 of 3 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor   

ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 
 
 
 
    
Andy Youn-Barnett, CMC, City Clerk  Thomas McLeod, Mayor 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM BY:  Filed with the City Clerk:  
  Passed by the City Council:  
  Published:  
  Effective Date:  
  Ordinance Number:  
Office of the City Attorney 
 
Exhibit A: Table 18-2, “Tukwila Urban Center Land Uses Allowed by District” 

DRAFT

7



Ta
bl

e 
18

-2
: T

uk
w

ila
 U

rb
an

 C
en

te
r L

an
d 

U
se

s A
llo

w
ed

 B
y 

D
is

tr
ic

t*
* 

Bu
si

ne
ss

 
lic

en
se

 
P 

= 
Pe

rm
itt

ed
, A

 =
 A

cc
es

so
ry

, C
 =

 C
on

di
tio

na
l, 

U
U

P 
= 

U
nc

la
ss

ifi
ed

 U
se

 
Pe

rm
it 

Fo
r p

ar
ki

ng
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 se

e 
Ta

bl
e 

18
-5

 o
r F

ig
ur

e 
18

-7
 

Re
gi

on
al

 C
en

te
r 

TO
D 

Po
nd

 D
ist

ric
t 

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 C
or

rid
or

 
W

or
k-

Pl
ac

e 

Re
ta

il1  
60

 
An

im
al

 K
en

ne
ls 

an
d 

Sh
el

te
rs

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 d

og
gy

 d
ay

ca
re

 
C 

C 
81

0A
 

At
hl

et
ic

 o
r H

ea
lth

 C
lu

bs
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
90

 
Au

to
m

ot
iv

e 
Se

rv
ic

e 
an

d 
Re

pa
ir 

P2 
P 

40
0 

Ba
nk

s,
 F

in
an

ci
al

, I
ns

ur
an

ce
, a

nd
 R

ea
l E

st
at

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

P 
P 

P 
10

30
 

Ba
r &

 N
ig

ht
cl

ub
s 

P 
P3 

P 
P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†  
Br

ew
 P

ub
s,

 O
n-

Si
te

 B
re

w
in

g,
 C

oc
kt

ai
l L

ou
ng

es
, &

 P
oo

l H
al

ls 
P 

P 
P 

P 
Bu

lk
 R

et
ai

l 
P 

P 
P 

Bu
sin

es
s S

er
vi

ce
s (

e.
g.

 c
op

yi
ng

, f
ax

 a
nd

 m
ai

lin
g 

ce
nt

er
s)

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
Re

f. 
ab

ov
e†  

Dr
iv

e 
Th

ro
ug

h 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s o

r S
er

vi
ce

s 
P 

P3 
P 

P 
36

0A
 

El
ec

tr
ic

 V
eh

ic
le

 C
ha

rg
in

g 
St

at
io

n 
L1

&
2 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
36

0B
 

El
ec

tr
ic

 V
eh

ic
le

 C
ha

rg
in

g 
St

at
e 

L3
 

A 
P3 

A 
A 

A 
90

 
Ga

s S
ta

tio
ns

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 C

ar
 W

as
h 

P3 
P 

P 
Ge

ne
ra

l R
et

ai
l 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
Re

f. 
ab

ov
e†  

La
un

dr
ie

s,
 T

ai
lo

rs
, a

nd
 D

ry
 C

le
an

er
s 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
Re

f. 
ab

ov
e†  

Pe
rs

on
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s (
e.

g.
 b

ea
ut

y 
&

 b
ar

be
r s

ho
ps

, n
ai

l s
al

on
s,

 sp
a,

 tr
av

el
 

ag
en

ci
es

) 
P 

P 
P 

P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†  
Re

cr
ea

tio
n 

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s (
co

m
m

er
ci

al
 in

do
or

) 
P 

P 
P 

P 
81

0C
 

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s (

co
m

m
er

ci
al

 o
ut

do
or

) 
P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†  
Re

pa
ir 

Sh
op

s (
sm

al
l s

ca
le

 g
oo

ds
: b

ic
yc

le
, a

pp
lia

nc
e,

 sh
oe

, c
om

pu
te

r)
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†  
Re

st
au

ra
nt

s w
ith

 a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

co
ck

ta
il 

lo
un

ge
s a

nd
 si

de
w

al
k 

ca
fe

s 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P6 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†  
Th

ea
te

rs
 e

xc
ep

t a
du

lt 
en

te
rt

ai
nm

en
t 

P 
P 

P 
84

0 
Ve

hi
cl

e 
Re

nt
al

 a
nd

 S
al

es
 (n

ot
 re

qu
iri

ng
 a

 c
om

m
er

ci
al

 D
L)

 
P 

P3 
P5 

P 
70

 
Ve

te
rin

ar
y 

Cl
in

ic
 w

ith
 te

m
po

ra
ry

 in
do

or
 b

oa
rd

in
g 

an
d 

gr
oo

m
in

g 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

O
ffi

ce
 

Pr
of

es
sio

na
l, 

O
ut

pa
tie

nt
 M

ed
ic

al
, D

en
ta

l, 
Go

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l S

er
vi

ce
s,

 a
nd

 
Re

se
ar

ch
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 

63
0 

M
ed

ic
al

 a
nd

 D
en

ta
l L

ab
or

at
or

ie
s 

P 
P 

P 
P 

Lo
dg

in
g 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†  
Ho

te
l, 

M
ot

el
, E

xt
en

de
d 

St
ay

, B
ed

 a
nd

 B
re

ak
fa

st
s 

P 
P 

P 
Ci

vi
c 

&
 In

st
itu

tio
na

l 

29
0 

Co
nv

en
tio

n 
&

 E
xh

ib
iti

on
 F

ac
ili

tie
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
m

ul
tip

ur
po

se
 a

re
na

 fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
P 

P3 
P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†
 

Cu
ltu

ra
l F

ac
ili

tie
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g:
 li

br
ar

ie
s,

 m
us

eu
m

s,
 a

rt
 g

al
le

rie
s,

 p
er

fo
rm

in
g 

ar
ts

 c
en

te
rs

 
P 

P 
P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†
 

Da
yc

ar
e 

Ce
nt

er
s 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†
 

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
an

d 
In

st
ru

ct
io

na
l F

ac
ili

tie
s,

 p
ub

lic
 a

nd
 p

riv
at

e 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

co
lle

ge
 

an
d 

un
iv

er
sit

ie
s 

P 
P 

P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†
 

Pa
rk

s,
 T

ra
ils

, P
ic

ni
c 

Ar
ea

s,
 P

la
yg

ro
un

ds
, a

nd
 P

ub
lic

 C
om

m
un

ity
 C

en
te

rs
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 

41
0 

Po
lic

e 
an

d 
Fi

re
 S

ta
tio

ns
 

C 
C

C 
P 

P 

Ad
op

te
d 

20
16

 - 
Or

din
an

ce
 N

o.
 2

50
0 

DRAFT

8



Bu
si

ne
ss

 
lic

en
se

 
P 

= 
Pe

rm
itt

ed
, A

 =
 A

cc
es

so
ry

, C
 =

 C
on

di
tio

na
l, 

U
U

P 
= 

U
nc

la
ss

ifi
ed

 U
se

 
Pe

rm
it 

Fo
r p

ar
ki

ng
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 se

e 
Ta

bl
e 

18
-5

 o
r F

ig
ur

e 
18

-7
 

Re
gi

on
al

 C
en

te
r 

TO
D 

Po
nd

 D
ist

ric
t 

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 C
or

rid
or

 
W

or
k-

Pl
ac

e 

Po
st

 O
ffi

ce
 

P 
P 

P 
82

0B
 

Re
lig

io
us

 In
st

itu
tio

ns
, g

re
at

er
 th

an
 7

50
 sf

 a
ss

em
bl

y 
ar

ea
 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
82

0A
 

Re
lig

io
us

 In
st

itu
tio

ns
, l

es
s t

ha
n 

75
0 

sf
 a

ss
em

bl
y 

ar
ea

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

In
du

st
ria

l, 
M

an
uf

ac
tu

rin
g,

 &
 W

ar
eh

ou
se

 
19

0 
Ca

rg
o 

Co
nt

ai
ne

rs
 su

bj
ec

t t
o 

TM
C 

18
.5

0.
06

0 
A 

55
0 

In
du

st
ria

l C
om

m
er

ci
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s (
e.

g.
 e

tc
hi

ng
, f

ilm
 p

ro
ce

ss
in

g,
 li

th
og

ra
ph

y,
 

pr
in

tin
g 

&
 p

ub
lis

hi
ng

) 
P 

Re
f. 

ab
ov

e†  

Li
gh

t I
nd

us
tr

ia
l: 

M
an

uf
ac

tu
rin

g,
 P

ro
ce

ss
in

g 
an

d 
As

se
m

bl
in

g 
us

es
 th

at
 h

av
e 

lit
tle

 p
ot

en
tia

l f
or

 c
re

at
in

g 
of

f-s
ite

 n
oi

se
, s

m
ok

e,
 d

us
t, 

vi
br

at
io

n 
or

 o
th

er
 

ex
te

rn
al

 im
pa

ct
s o

r p
ol

lu
tio

n.
 M

an
uf

ac
tu

rin
g 

an
d 

pr
oc

es
sin

g 
of

 fo
od

 a
nd

 
be

ve
ra

ge
s i

nc
lu

di
ng

 fe
rm

en
tin

g 
an

d 
di

st
ill

in
g;

 w
ith

 o
r w

ith
ou

t a
 ta

st
in

g 
ro

om
, p

ro
vi

de
d 

th
e 

ta
st

in
g 

ro
om

 o
cc

up
ie

s l
es

s t
ha

n 
50

%
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l a
re

a 
of

 
th

e 
bu

ild
in

g 
oc

cu
pi

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
te

na
nt

  b
ut

 n
o 

m
or

e 
th

an
 3

50
0 

sq
ua

re
 fe

et
; 

an
d 

th
e 

m
an

uf
ac

tu
rin

g 
pr

oc
es

s d
oe

s n
ot

 c
au

se
 o

ff-
sit

e 
im

pa
ct

s t
o 

ne
ig

hb
or

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s o
r c

re
at

e 
a 

pu
bl

ic
 n

ui
sa

nc
e.

 

P 

99
0A

/B
 

O
ut

do
or

 st
or

ag
e 

of
 m

at
er

ia
ls 

to
 b

e 
m

an
uf

ac
tu

re
d 

or
 h

an
dl

ed
 a

s p
ar

t o
f a

 
pe

rm
itt

ed
 u

se
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

Zo
ne

, s
cr

ee
ne

d 
pu

rs
ua

nt
 T

M
C 

18
.5

2 
A 

96
0 

Se
lf-

St
or

ag
e 

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
P 

11
10

 
W

ar
eh

ou
se

 S
to

ra
ge

 a
nd

 W
ho

le
sa

le
 D

ist
rib

ut
io

n 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

P 
Tr

an
sp

or
ta

tio
n,

 C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n,

 &
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 
24

0 
Co

m
m

er
ci

al
 P

ar
ki

ng
 , 

da
y 

us
e 

on
ly

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

37
0 

Es
se

nt
ia

l P
ub

lic
 F

ac
ili

tie
s,

 e
xc

ep
t t

ho
se

 li
st

ed
 se

pa
ra

te
ly

 
U

U
P 

U
U

P 
U

U
P 

U
U

P 
U

U
P 

In
te

rm
od

al
 T

ra
ns

it 
St

at
io

ns
, R

ai
l t

ra
ns

it 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

U
U

P 
U

U
P 

U
U

P 
U

U
P 

U
U

P 
Re

f. 
ab

ov
e†  

In
te

rn
et

 D
at

a 
Ce

nt
er

s &
 T

el
ep

ho
ne

 E
xc

ha
ng

es
 

P 
71

00
 

Pa
rk

 a
nd

 R
id

e 
Lo

ts
 

U
U

P 
U

U
P 

U
U

P 
U

U
P 

72
0 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Ar
ea

s 
A 

A 
A 

A 
A 

Pu
bl

ic
 T

ra
ns

it 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s a

nd
 S

ta
tio

ns
 (B

us
) 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
78

0 
Ra

di
o,

 T
el

ev
isi

on
, M

ic
ro

w
av

e,
 o

r O
bs

er
va

tio
n 

St
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 T
ow

er
s 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
Re

f. 
ab

ov
e†  

U
til

ity
 F

ac
ili

tie
s,

 a
bo

ve
 g

ro
un

d/
 n

ot
 in

 R
O

W
 

C 
C 

C 
C 

P 
Re

f. 
ab

ov
e†  

U
til

ity
 F

ac
ili

tie
s,

 u
nd

er
gr

ou
nd

/in
 R

O
W

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

11
40

 
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

P7 
P7 

P7 
P7 

P7 

Re
si

de
nt

ia
l 

32
0 

Do
rm

ito
rie

s 
A 

A 
Re

f. 
ab

ov
e†  

Dw
el

lin
g:

 M
ul

ti-
fa

m
ily

, M
ix

ed
 U

se
, S

en
io

r C
iti

ze
n 

Ho
us

in
g 

P 
P 

P 
P4 

51
0 

Ho
m

e 
O

cc
up

at
io

n 
A 

A 
A 

P4 

27
0 

Co
nt

in
ui

ng
 C

ar
e 

Re
tir

em
en

t C
om

m
un

ity
 

P 
P 

ST
EP

 H
ou

si
ng

 
Em

er
ge

nc
y 

Ho
us

in
g 

P8 
P8 

P8 

Em
er

ge
nc

y 
Sh

el
te

r 
P8 

P8 
P8 

Pe
rm

an
en

t S
up

po
rt

iv
e 

Ho
us

in
g 

P9 
P9 

P9 
P4,

 9
 

Tr
an

sit
io

na
l H

ou
sin

g 
P9 

P9 
P9 

P4,
 9

 

DRAFT

9



† 
Re

fe
re

nc
e 

th
e 

ab
ov

e 
ge

ne
ra

l z
on

in
g 

co
de

 u
se

 m
at

rix
 fo

r s
pe

ci
fic

 b
us

in
es

s l
ic

en
se

 c
od

e.
 

**
 S

ee
 T

M
C 

18
.2

8.
26

0 
fo

r D
ist

ric
t s

pe
ci

fic
 p

ar
ki

ng
 st

an
da

rd
s.

 
1.

M
in

im
um

 in
te

rio
r h

ei
gh

t f
or

 g
ro

un
d 

le
ve

l r
et

ai
l o

f a
ll 

ty
pe

s i
s 1

8 
fe

et
 fr

om
 fl

oo
r t

o 
flo

or
 p

la
te

. U
se

 c
on

ve
rs

io
ns

 in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

bu
ild

in
gs

 a
re

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d 

to
 m

ee
t t

hi
s 

st
an

da
rd

.
2.

N
ew

 b
us

in
es

se
s a

re
 li

m
ite

d 
to

 lo
ca

tio
ns

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
Fr

ee
w

ay
 F

ro
nt

ag
e 

Co
rr

id
or

. S
ee

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 d

es
ig

n 
st

an
da

rd
s i

n 
th

e 
So

ut
hc

en
te

r D
es

ig
n 

M
an

ua
l.

3.
Ea

st
 o

f t
he

 G
re

en
 R

iv
er

 o
nl

y.
4.

O
nl

y 
on

 p
ro

pe
rt

ie
s f

ro
nt

in
g 

th
e 

G
re

en
 R

iv
er

 o
r M

in
kl

er
 P

on
d.

5.
Ex

cl
ud

es
 v

eh
ic

le
 st

or
ag

e 
or

 m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

.
6.

3,
50

0 
sf

 m
ax

 p
er

 u
se

.
7.

Su
bj

ec
t t

o 
TM

C 
18

.5
8.

 
8.

Su
bj

ec
t t

o 
th

e 
cr

ite
ria

 a
nd

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 a

t T
M

C 
18

.5
0.

25
0 

an
d 

TM
C 

18
.5

0.
27

0.
9.

Su
bj

ec
t t

o 
th

e 
cr

ite
ria

 a
nd

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 a

t T
M

C 
18

.5
0.

26
0 

an
d 

TM
C 

18
.5

0.
27

0.

DRAFT

10



Date: January23, 2025
Time: 6:30p.m. 
Location: HybridMeeting -viaMicrosoftTeams / Public, In-PersonAttendance,  

CouncilChambers, 6200SouthcenterBlvd., Tukwila, WA98188

I. CalltoOrder
ChairProbstcalledtheTukwilaPCmeetingtoorderat6:35p.m. 

II. RollCall
ThePCSecretarytookrollcall. 

Present: ChairMartinProbst; ViceChairAnnDurant; CommissionersLouise
Strander, AlexKaehler, RichardMcLelandWieser, andJacobHalverson

ExcusedAbsence: CommissionerJaneHo

Staff:DirectorNoraGierloff, AmericanInstituteofCertifiedPlanners (AICP), Departmentof
CommunityDevelopment (DCD); LongRangePlanningManagerNancyEklund, AICP,  
DCD; DevelopmentSupervisorMaxBaker, AICP, DCD; SeniorPlannerNeilTabor, AICP,  
DCD; andPCSecretaryWynettaBivens,DCD

III. AmendmentoftheAgenda
Nochangestotheagendawererequested. 

IV. ApprovalofMinutes
CommissionerHalversonmovedtoadoptthe12/12/24Minutes. CommissionerDurant
secondedthemotion. CommissionerKaehlerrecusedhimselfduetoabsence.Motion
carried. 

V. WrittenGeneralPublicComments
Nosubmittals. 

VI. OldBusiness
None

1 11



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page2

VII.NewBusiness

PUBLICHEARING

1. Shelter, Transitional, Emergency, Permanent (STEP) HousingChanges

FILENUMBER: L24-0026, E25-0001
PURPOSE: Codeamendmenttocomplywithstatelaw.  
LOCATION: Non-ProjectAction/Citywide

SeniorPlannerNeilTaborgavethepresentationforstaff. HeprovidedbackgroundonSTEPHousing
andthepurposeofthepublichearing.HesaidthatlegislaturenarrowedrestrictionsfortheSTEP
Housingtypes, whichresultedintheallocationofcertainhousingtargets. TheCityofTukwila
previouslyadoptedcodeamendmentstorecognizetheSTEPHousingtypes. In2021,theState
legislaturepassedHB1220whichsetsrequirementsforSTEPHousing. Thefollowinghousingtypesare
notincluded: 

RestrictedHousing

StaffnotedthattheState, PugetSoundRegionalCouncil, andCountywideKingCountyeach
developmentregulationsdonotmeetrequirements. Staffwentoverthe

proposedstandardsandwalkedthroughtheSTEPhousingrequirementsinwhichtheCityofTukwilais
notincompliance. 

whilemaintainingreasonableoccupancyandspacingrequirements, staffproposetoamendTMC
18.50.250, 18.50.260andTable18-2TukwilaUrbanCenter (TUC) LandUsesAllowedbyDistrict

StaffaddressedclarifyingquestionsfromthePC. 

Recommendation
StaffarerequestingthatthePlanningCommissionforwardarecommendationforadoptionofthedraft
codeamendmentstotheCityCouncil (CC) fortheirreview.  

PublicHearing
ChairProbstopenedthepublichearing.  

Staffnotedthattherewerenopublichearingcommentslettersreceived. 

Therewasnopublictestimony. 

ChairProbstclosedthepublichearing. 

212



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page3

Deliberations/Motion
Therewasnodeliberation. 

theirreview. CommissionerDurantsecondedthemotion. Motioncarried. 

PUBLICHEARING

2. PhasedBindingSiteImprovementPlans (BSIP)  

FILENUMBER: L25-0001, E25-0002
PURPOSE: Codeamendmenttoremovedevelopmentagreementrequirement. 
LOCATION: Non-ProjectAction/Citywide

SeniorPlannerNeilTaborgavethepresentationforstaff. Heprovidedbackgroundontheproposed.  
BSIPsareplansusedtoprovideflexibilityforsaleofpropertywithinalargerdevelopment. These
developmentsoftenrelyonsharedfeatureswithinthelargersite, suchas: Parking; accesspoints;  
landscaping; utilities; refusecollectionareas; etc. PhasedBSIPsimprovementplansandproposalsto
developinphasesarerequiredtoenterintoadevelopmentagreementinadditiontocompletingthe
BSIP.  

TherequirementforphasedBSIPstoexecuteadevelopmentagreementislistedintheTukwila
MunicipalCode (TMC) 17.16.030(C) PreliminaryBindingSiteImprovementPlan (BSIP) approval,  
approvalCriteria.  

Staffproposedremovingthesoleprovisionrequiringtheexecutionofadevelopmentagreementwith
phasedBSIPs. Referencesrequiringconsistencywithapprovalsandoptionstoapplyconditionsand
limitationsforphasedBSIPsarealreadypresentinothersectionsofTMC17.16andthroughoutthe
TMC. 

StaffaddressedclarifyingquestionsfromthePC. 

Recommendation
StaffarerequestingthatthePlanningCommissionforwardarecommendationfortheadoptionofthe
draftcodeamendmentstotheCCfortheirreview.  

PublicHearing
ApublichearingcommentletterwasreceivedfromSamPace, HousingSpecialist.  
SeattleKingCountyREALTORS, onJanuary22, 2025, whichwasdistributedtothePConJanuary22,  
2025. 

ChairProbstopenedthepublichearing.  

Therewasnopublictestimony. 

ChairProbstclosedthepublichearing. 

Deliberations/Motion
Therewasnodeliberation. 

3 13



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page4

CommissionerDurantmovedtoadopt recommendationsandforwardittotheCCfortheir
review. CommissionerMcLelandWiesersecondedthemotion. Motioncarried. 

PUBLICHEARING

3. TownhousesintheTUC

FILENUMBER: L25-0003, E25-0004
PURPOSE: Codeamendmenttoupdateresidentialallowances.  
LOCATION: Non-ProjectAction/Citywide

SeniorPlannerNeilTaborgavethepresentationforstaff. Heprovidedbackgroundontheproposed. He
statedthisitemisontownhouseallowancesintheTUC, whichisaregionalcenterdesignatedwiththe
PugetSoundRegionalCouncilforfuturegrowth, capitalizingontransitinfrastructuretoreducecar
dependency. ThiscenterdesignationundertheRegionalGrowthStrategymakesthisareaeligiblefor
additionalfundingthathelpsthemtransitionintodenser, transit-orienteddevelopmentovertime. It
coversPierce, Snohomish, King, andKitsapCounties. Withinthesecounties,centerscanbedesignated
wherehighcapacitytransitexists,encouragingthegreateruseofpublictransportation. 

Partoftherequirementforacenteristhatitplans

Staffproposesremovingtownhousesfromthelistofalloweddwellingtypesintable18-2, affectingthe
TUCRegionalCenter, TransitOrientedDevelopment,PondandportionsoftheWorkPlaceZoning
Districts. 

StaffarerequestingthatthePCforwardarecommendationfortheadoptionoftheproposedredlined
languagetotheCCfortheirfurtherreviewandadoption. 

StaffaddressedclarifyingquestionsfromthePC. 

CommissionerHalversonstatedthathewouldproposeanamendment, statingheisagainstremoving
townhomesfromtheuseintheTUC. 

CommissionerDurantstateditwasmentionedinthestaffbackgroundreportthatregionalgrowth
strategydesignationmakestheareaeligibleforadditionalfunding. Sheaskediftownhomesarenot

unitswhethertheCityofTukwilawouldbe
ineligibleforthefundingorwoulditbelessaccessibletothecity. Shesaidthechangemakessenseto
her. Mr. Taborstatedindividualuseallowanceswouldbeunlikelytoeliminatefundingeligibility, but
regulationsshouldbeconsistentwithgoalsforthecenter.  

CommissionerHalversoninquiredwhetherthereisanyconcepttobuildsmalltownhouse-style
residential.  

Staffsaidtheyidentifiedthisassomethingthatisinconsistentwiththeoverallgoals, whichiswhythey
areproposingit.  

414



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page5

Staffproposesremovingtownhousesfromthelistofalloweddwellingtypesintable18-2, affectingthe
TukwilaUrbanCenter (TUC) RegionalCenter, TransitOrientedDevelopment, Pondandportionsofthe
WorkPlaceZoningDistricts. 

Therewasextensivediscussionaroundthissubject. 

Recommendation
StaffarerequestingthatthePlanningCommissionforwardarecommendationfortheadoptionofthe
draftcodeamendmentstotheCCfortheirreview.  

PublicHearing
ChairProbstopenedthepublichearing

Staffnotedthattherewerenopublichearingcommentslettersreceived. 

Therewasnopublictestimony

ChairProbstclosedthepublichearing

Deliberations/Motion
Therewasnodeliberation. 

accessoryuseintheTukwilaUrbanCenterinsteadofstrikingthem. CommissionerStranderseconded
themotion. Therewasasplitdecision. 

CommissionerHalversonmovedtoforwardthesplitrecommendationtotheCCfortheirreview.  
CommissionerStandersecondedthemotion. Motioncarried. 

StaffaskedforclarificationonhowthePCwouldliketoformatthesuggestedamendmenttochange
Townhousestoanaccessoryuse. ThePCdeferredthedecisiontostaff. 

PUBLICHEARING

4. ResidentialConversions

FILENUMBER: L25-0002, E25-0003
PURPOSE: Codeamendmenttocomplywithchangesinstatelaw.  
LOCATION: Non-ProjectAction

SeniorPlannerNeilTaborgavethepresentationforstaff. Heprovidedbackgroundontheproposed
amendment. Hestatedthatinthe2023legislativesession, HB1042passedandbroadenedallowances
forconversionsofnon-residentialtoresidentialspaces.PertheMunicipalResearchandServicesCenter
MRSC) hewentoverseveralofthekeyprovisionsoftherequirements. Hesaidtheintentwiththiscode

amendmentistoprovideconsistencywiththestatelaw. Also, toprovidefutureallowancesthatthecity
canstillmaintaingroundfloorcommercialspacethatisrequiredinnewusedevelopmentandidentified
areas. 

5 15



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page6

Intheinterestinpreservingtheabilitytomaintaingroundfloorcommercialspacestaffproposetoadopt
amajorpedestriancorridoralongTukwilaInternationalBoulevard (TIB). 

StaffproposedadoptinganewcodesectionwithintheTukwilaMunicipalCode (TMC). TMC18.50.230
forResidentialConversion. 

StaffaddressedclarifyingquestionsfromthePC. 

Recommendation
StaffarerequestingthatthePlanningCommissionforwardarecommendationfortheadoptionofthe
draftcodeamendmentstotheCCfortheirreview.  

PublicHearing
ChairProbstopenedthepublichearing.  

Staffnotedthattherewerenopublichearingcommentslettersreceived. 

Therewasnopublictestimony. 

ChairProbstclosedthepublichearing. 

Deliberations/Motion

Therewasnodeliberation. 

amendmentsandforwardthemtothePCfortheirreview. CommissionerDurantsecondedthemotion.  
CommissionerHalversonabstained. Motioncarried. 

VIII. 
Comingup: (maymeetmorethanonceamonthsomemonths) 

February -AdditionalMiddleHousing (MH) presentationanddiscussion. Reviewofmapping
anddensitystandards. Introtodesignandroadstandards. 
March -PublicHearing #1onMH, focusingongeneraldevelopmentregulationsandconsistency. 
April -PublicHearing #2onMHfocusingonobjectivedesignstandardsandroadstandards. 
MovethefullpackagetotheCityCouncil, aimingforadoptionbytheendofJune. 
QuickQuackCarwashhasreceiveddesignreviewapproval.Nowtheyareworkingonsomeother
issues. 

IX.Adjournment
CommissionerMcLelandWiesermovedtoadjourn.Commissioner. Durantsecondedthemotion.  

Adjournedat:7:59p.m. 

Submittedby:WynettaBivens
PCSecretary

616



 

 

City of Tukwila 
Thomas McLeod, Mayor 

INFORMATIONAL MEMORANDUM 

 

 

 
 
TO:  Planning and Community Development Committee 
 
CC:  Mayor Thomas McLeod 
 
FROM: Nora Gierloff, AICP, DCD Director 
 
BY:  Neil Tabor, AICP, Senior Planner 
 
DATE: April 14, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Proposal to Amend Regulations Relating to Conversion of Existing 

Building Space to Residential 
 
ISSUE 
 
The proposed code amendment would bring the City into compliance with upcoming changes in 
state law and designate an area for preservation of ground floor commercial space.   
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In the 2023 legislative session, the state legislature passed HB 1042, a bill broadening the 
required allowances for conversion of non-residential buildings, or non-residential portions of 
buildings, into residential spaces (since codified as RCW 35A.21.440). The intent of this bill 

was to encourage conversion of underutilized office and commercial space into much needed 
residential units. The viability of individual buildings being converted may differ, based on 
building characteristics. The City is required to adopt code that is compliant with the bill within 
six months after the adoption of the comprehensive plan, or by June 30, 2025. 
 
As summarized by the Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC), some of the key 
provisions of the bill requirements include: 
 

•  Allowing a 50% density increase above what is permitted in the underlying zone if the 
housing is constructed entirely within the envelope of an existing building, provided that 
generally applicable health and safety standards can be met; 

•  Prohibiting the imposition of parking standards on the additional dwelling units; 
(however, cities may require retention of existing parking required to satisfy existing 
residential parking requirements under local law and for any nonresidential uses that 
remain after new units are added); 

•  Prohibiting imposing additional permitting requirements on use of existing buildings 
beyond those applicable to all residential development in the zone, with the exception of 
emergency and transitional housing; 

•  Prohibiting the imposition of additional design standards beyond those generally 
applicable to all residential development in the zone; 

•  Prohibiting requiring that unchanged portions of an existing building used for residential 
purposes meet the current energy code; (however, if any portion of an existing building 
is converted to new dwelling units, the new units must meet the current energy code); 
and 

17

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.440


Page 2 
 

 
•  Prohibiting denial of a building permit based on certain existing nonconformities unless a 

city official with decision-making authority makes findings that the nonconformity is 
causing a significant detriment to the surrounding area. 

 
Other key provisions of the bill include: 
 

•  Provisions apply to all zones permitting multifamily development, and all structures that 
have received a certificate of occupancy at least three years prior. 

•  Developments along designated “Major Pedestrian Corridors”, as defined by the 
individual jurisdiction, may restrict conversion of otherwise qualifying ground floor 
building space if there is a code requirement for non-residential ground floor space.  

 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
 
A public hearing on the code amendment L25-0002 was held at the January 23rd, 2025, 
Planning Commission meeting. Commissioners passed a motion to recommend that the City 
Council adopt the code amendments without modifications. A link to the Planning Commission 
packet materials on this topic is provided here. 
 
SUMMARY OF PROPOSED CHANGES 
 
Staff proposes adopting a new code section as TMC 18.50.230 “Residential Conversions”, 
clarifying residential conversion allowances and standards, and adopting a map designating 
parcels within a Major Pedestrian Corridor, depicted in Figure 1. Language regarding residential 
conversions in zones affected by these provisions are also noted in individual chapters. 
 
A new definition of “Residential Conversion” is also proposed in TMC 18.06 for clarity, as copied 
below. 
 
“Residential Conversion” means the conversion of a building, or portion of a building, that is 
vacant, or occupied by a nonresidential use, to a residential use.  
 

18

https://records.tukwilawa.gov/WebLink/1/edoc/419269/Planning%202025-01-23%20ITEM%206.4%20-%20Public%20Hearing%20-%20Residential%20Conversions.pdf


Page 3 
 

 

 
Figure 1. Proposed Major Pedestrian Corridor 

 
 
 
 
 

19



Page 4 
 

 
ANALYSIS 
 
Preserving ground floor uses and requiring ground floor commercial uses in select residential 
development circumstances can provide a variety of public benefits and support fulfillment of 
comprehensive plan goals and policies. Ground floor commercial spaces can help foster 
placemaking, support denser transit-oriented development, provide spaces for local businesses 
and options for local shoppers, amongst other benefits. Many of the comprehensive plan 
policies to achieve these goals are focused along the TIB corridor, which is transit rich, but 
currently lacks significant walkable commercial opportunities outside of a select few nodes. Staff 
anticipates revisiting zoning and development regulations in the future, which will likely include 
evaluating ground floor commercial requirements in mixed use developments.  
 
In the interest of preserving the ability to maintain ground floor commercial spaces, staff 
proposes to adopt a Major Pedestrian Corridor along Tukwila International Boulevard as 
depicted in Figure 1 above.  
 
Staff Report Criteria 
 
TMC 18.82.030 requires that staff reports for proposed amendments to development regulations 
address the five listed criteria in this section. As criteria pertain to both privately initiated code 
amendment applications and those proposed by staff, some criteria may not be as relevant for 
all code amendment proposals. Criteria and staff responses are listed below. 
 
1.   An evaluation of the application materials; 
 
Staff Response: Not applicable.  
 
2.  Impact upon the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Code; 
 
Staff Response: The proposed code amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan and 
does not require an amendment to the comprehensive plan.  
 
3.  Impact upon surrounding properties, if applicable; 
 
Staff Response: Not applicable. 
 
4.  Alternatives to the proposed amendment; and 
 
Staff Response: The City is required to update development regulations to comply with RCW 
35A.21.440 by no later than six months after adoption of its comprehensive plan periodic 
update. The City has flexibility in choosing whether to establish a major pedestrian corridor to 
prevent the conversion of required ground floor commercial space and where to locate this 
corridor designation(s).  
 
The designation of the major pedestrian corridor along Tukwila International Boulevard was 
determined by staff to be a logical area of emphasis for continued transition to a less 
automotive-oriented district. If modifications to the initial proposed corridor geography are 
desired, this could be addressed in future code amendments. 
 
5.  Appropriate code citations and other relevant documents. 
 
Staff Response: Standards specific to conversion of non-residential space to residential, and 
associated preemptions such as minimum density allowances, do not currently exist in the 
Tukwila Municipal Code. This ordinance proposes to incorporate this recent legislative 
requirement. 

20

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.440
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.440


Page 5 

Decision Criteria 

TMC 18.82.020, Decision Criteria provides criteria for the final City Council decision on 
proposed code amendments. 

Decision criteria are as follows: 

1. Is the amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan?
2. Does the amendment meet at least one of the following criteria:

a. Eliminates conflicts between TMC and the Comprehensive Plan; or
b. Accomplishes policy directives of the Council or Administration; or
c. Corrects an error or errors in the TMC.

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
No direct costs to the City are expected from this code amendment. 

REQUESTED ACTION 
The Council is being asked to approve an ordinance to adopt a new code section addressing 
“Residential Conversions” clarifying residential conversion allowances and standards; adopting 
a new definition and other associated code modifications; and adopting a map designating 
parcels within a Major Pedestrian Corridor, depicted in Figure 1. The Council is asked to 
consider this code amendment at the April 28, 2025, Committee of the Whole meeting, and 
subsequent May 5, 2025, Regular meeting.  

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Ordinance
B. Ordinance Exhibit A
C. 1/23/2025 Planning Commission Minutes

21



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 1 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TUKWILA, WASHINGTON, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2741 
§3 (PART), AS CODIFIED AT VARIOUS SECTIONS OF
TUKWILA MUNICIPAL CODE (TMC) TITLE 18, “ZONING”; TO
AMEND REGULATIONS REGARDING RESIDENTIAL
CONVERSIONS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, Tukwila Municipal Code (“TMC”) Chapter 18 regulates zoning and land 
use in the City of Tukwila; and   

WHEREAS, RCW 35A.21.440 requires jurisdictions to adopt compliant regulations 
regarding the conversion of residential structures no later than six months after the periodic 
update of the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan was adopted on December 16, 2024; 
and 

WHEREAS, regulations should be consistent and align with state law; and 

WHEREAS, on January 23, 2025, the Tukwila Planning Commission, following 
adequate public notice, held a public hearing to receive testimony concerning 
amendments to the Tukwila Municipal Code to establish the Critical Area Designation 
Permit, and at that meeting adopted a motion recommending that the City Council 
approve the proposed changes; and 

WHEREAS, on January 24, 2025, the City’s State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) 
Responsible Official issued a Determination of Non-Significance on the proposed 
amendments; and  

WHEREAS, on May 5, 2025, after considering the analysis and proposed code 
amendments prepared by City Staff, the recommendation from the Planning Commission, 
and the public comments received, the City Council desire to adopt code amendments as 
set forth herein. 

DRAFT

22



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 2 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TUKWILA, 
WASHINGTON, HEREBY ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Adoption of Findings of Fact. The City Council finds as follows: 

A. The above recitals, set forth as “WHEREAS” clauses, are hereby adopted as
Findings of Fact in support of the adoption of this ordinance. 

B. The amendments that are established below comply with the requirements of the
Washington State Growth Management Act and the Tukwila Municipal Code.

Section 2. Regulations Established. TMC Section 18.06.686, “Residential 
Conversion” is hereby established as follows:  

18.06.686 Residential Conversion 

“Residential Conversion” means the conversion of a building, or portion of a building, 
that is vacant, or occupied by a nonresidential use, to a residential use. 

Section 3.  Ordinance No. 2741 §3 (part), as codified at TMC Section 18.14.070, “Basic 
Development Standards,” is hereby amended to read as follows: 

18.14.070 Basic Development Standards 

Development within the High-Density Residential District shall conform to the 
following listed and referenced standards: 

HDR BASIC DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Lot area, minimum 9,600 sq. ft. (Applied to parent lot 
for townhouse subdivisions) 

Lot area per unit  
(multi-family, except  
senior citizen housing) 

2,000 sq. ft. (For townhouses the 
density shall be calculated based on 

one unit per 2000 sq. ft. of parent lot area. The “unit 
lot” area shall be allowed to include the common 

access easements.) 

Average lot width  
(min. 20 ft. street frontage width), minimum 

60 feet 
(Applied to parent lot 

for townhouse subdivisions) 

Setbacks, minimum:         Applied to 
parent lot for townhouse subdivisions 

• Front - 1st floor 15 feet 

• Front - 2nd floor 20 feet 

• Front - 3rd floor 30 feet (20 feet for townhouses) 

• Front – 4th floor 45 feet (20 feet for townhouses) 

• Second front - 1st floor 7.5 feet 

• Second front - 2nd floor 10 feet 

• Second front - 3rd floor 15 feet (10 feet for townhouses) 

• Second front – 4th floor 22.5 feet (10 feet for townhouses) 

• Sides - 1st floor 10 feet 

DRAFT

23



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 3 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

• Sides - 2nd floor 20 feet 
(10 feet for townhouses 
unless adjacent to LDR) 

• Sides - 3rd floor 20 feet 
(30 feet if adjacent to LDR) 

(10 feet for townhouses 
unless adjacent to LDR) 

• Sides – 4th floor 30 feet 
(20 feet for townhouses 
unless adjacent to LDR) 

• Rear - 1st floor 10 feet 

• Rear - 2nd floor 20 feet 
(10 feet for townhouses 
unless adjacent to LDR) 

• Rear - 3rd floor 20 feet 
(30 feet if adjacent to LDR; 

10 feet for townhouses 
unless adjacent to LDR) 

• Rear – 4th floor 30 feet 
(20 feet for townhouses 
unless adjacent to LDR) 

Refer to TMC 18.52, “Landscape Requirements,” Table A, for perimeter and parking lot landscaping 
requirements. 

Townhouse building separation, minimum 

• 1 and 2 story buildings 10 feet 

• 3 and 4 story buildings 20 feet 

Height, maximum 45 feet 

Development area coverage 50% maximum (except senior citizen housing), (75% 
for townhouses) 

Recreation space 400 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 
(1,000 sq. ft. min.) 

Recreation space,  
senior citizen housing 

100 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 

Off-street parking: 

• Residential (except senior citizen housing) See TMC 18.56, 
Off-street Parking & Loading Regulations. 

• Accessory dwelling unit See TMC 18.50.220 

• Other uses, including senior citizen housing See TMC 18.56, 
Off-street Parking & Loading Regulations 

Conversion to Residential See TMC 18.50.230, Residential Conversions 

Performance Standards: Use, activity and operations within a structure or a site shall comply with (1) 
standards adopted by the Puget Sound Air Pollution Control Agency for odor, dust, smoke and other 
airborne pollutants, (2) TMC 8.22, "Noise", and, (3) adopted State and Federal standards for water 
quality and hazardous materials. In addition, all development subject to the requirements of the State 
Environmental Policy Act, RCW 43.21C, shall be evaluated to determine whether adverse 
environmental impacts have been adequately mitigated. 

DRAFT

24



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 4 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

Section 4.  Ordinance No. 2741 §3 (part), as codified at TMC Section 18.16.080, “Basic 
Development Standards,” is hereby amended to read as follows: 

18.16.080 Basic Development Standards 

Development within the Mixed Use Office District shall conform to the following listed 
and referenced standards. In the Tukwila International Boulevard corridor, there are 
circumstances under which these basic standards may be waived (see TMC 18.60.020).  

MUO BASIC DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Lot area per unit, 

3,000 sq. ft. multi-family (except senior citizen housing), 
minimum 

Setbacks to yards, minimum: 

• Front

• Second front

• Sides

• Sides, if any portion of the yard is within 50 feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

• Rear

• Rear, if any portion of the yard is within 50 feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

Refer to TMC 18.52, “Landscape Requirements,” Table A, for perimeter and parking lot landscaping 
requirements. 

Height, maximum 

Recreation space 

Recreation space, 
senior citizen housing 

Off-street parking: 

• Residential (except senior citizen housing)
See TMC 18.56, 

Off street Parking & Loading Regulations 

• Office, minimum
3 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

usable floor area 

• Retail, minimum
2.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

usable floor area 

• Other uses, including senior citizen housing
See TMC 18.56, Off-street Parking & Loading 

Regulations 

 Conversion to Residential See TMC 18.50.230, Residential Conversions 

Performance Standards: Use, activity and operations within a structure or a site shall comply with (1) 
standards adopted by the Puget Sound Air Pollution Control Agency for odor, dust, smoke and other 
airborne pollutants, (2) TMC 8.22, "Noise", and, (3) adopted State and Federal standards for water 
quality and hazardous materials. In addition, all development subject to the requirements of the State 
Environmental Policy Act, RCW 43.21C, shall be evaluated to determine whether adverse 
environmental impacts have been adequately mitigated. 

DRAFT

25



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 5 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

Section 5.  Ordinance No. 2741 §3 (part), as codified at TMC Section 18.20.080, “Basic 
Development Standards,” is hereby amended to read as follows: 

18.20.080 Basic Development Standards 

Development within the Residential Commercial Center District shall conform to the 
following listed and referenced standards: 

RCC BASIC DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Lot area, minimum 5,000 sq. ft. 

Lot area per unit (multi-family), minimum 3,000 sq. ft. 

Setbacks to yards, minimum: 

• Front 20 feet 

• Second front 10 feet 

• Sides 5 feet 

• Sides, if any portion of the yard is within 50
feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

10 feet 

• Rear 10 feet 

Refer to TMC Chapter 18.52, “Landscape Requirements,” Table A, for perimeter and parking lot 
landscaping requirements. 

Height, maximum 3 stories or 35 feet 

Recreation space 200 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 
(1,000 sq. ft. min.) 

Off-street parking: 

• Residential See TMC Chapter 18.56, 
Off-street Parking & Loading Regulations 

• Office, minimum 3 per 1,000 sq. ft. 
usable floor area 

• Retail, minimum 2.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 
usable floor area 

• Other uses See TMC Chapter 18.56, Off-street Parking & 
Loading Regulations 

 Conversion to Residential  See TMC 18.50.230, Residential Conversions 
Performance Standards:  Use, activity and operations within a structure or a site shall comply with (1) 
standards adopted by the Puget Sound Air Pollution Control Agency for odor, dust, smoke and other 
airborne pollutants, (2) TMC Chapter 8.22, “Noise”, and (3) adopted State and Federal standards for 
water quality and hazardous materials.  In addition, all development subject to the requirements of the 
State Environmental Policy Act, RCW 43.21C, shall be evaluated to determine whether adverse 
environmental impacts have been adequately mitigated. 

Section 6.  Ordinance No. 2741 §3 (part), as codified at TMC Section 18.22.080, “Basic 
Development Standards,” is hereby amended to read as follows: 

18.22.080 Basic Development Standards 

Development within the Neighborhood Commercial Center District shall conform to 
the following listed and referenced standards: In the Tukwila International Boulevard 
corridor, there are circumstances under which these basic standards may be waived (see 
TMC 18.60.020).     

DRAFT

26



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 6 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

NCC BASIC DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Lot area per unit for senior citizen housing, 
minimum 

726 sq. ft. (senior housing) 

Setbacks to yards, minimum: 

• Front 6 feet (12 feet if located along 
Tukwila International Blvd. S.) 

• Second front 5 feet 

• Sides 10 feet 

• Sides, if any portion of the yard is within 50
feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

Ratio of 1.5:1 setback 
(for every 1.5 feet of bldg. height, setback 1 foot 

from property line) min. of 10 feet and a max. of 20 
feet 

• Rear 10 feet 

• Rear, if any portion of the yard is within 50
feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

Ratio of 1.5:1 setback 
(for every 1.5 feet of bldg. height, setback 1 foot 

from property line) min. of 10 feet and a max. of 20 
feet 

Refer to TMC 18.52, “Landscape Requirements,” Table A, for perimeter and parking lot landscaping 
requirements. 

Height, maximum 3 stories or 35 feet 
(4 stories or 45 feet in the NCC of 
the Tukwila International Boulevard, 
if a mixed use with a residential 
and commercial component) 

Recreation space 200 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 
(1,000 sq. ft. min.) 

Recreation space,  
senior citizen housing 

100 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 

Off-street parking: 

• Residential (except senior citizen housing) See TMC 18.56, Off-street Parking/Loading 
Regulations 

• Office 3 per 1,000 sq. ft. 
usable floor area 

• Retail 2.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 
usable floor area 

• Manufacturing 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. 
usable floor area minimum 

• Warehousing 1 per 2,000 sq. ft. 
usable floor area minimum 

• Other uses, including senior citizen housing See TMC 18.56, Off-street 
Parking & Loading Regulations 

Conversion to Residential  See TMC 18.50.230, Residential Conversions 

Performance Standards: Use, activity and operations within a structure or a site shall comply with (1) 
standards adopted by the Puget Sound Air Pollution Control Agency for odor, dust, smoke and other 
airborne pollutants, (2) TMC 8.22, "Noise", and, (3) adopted State and Federal standards for water 
quality and hazardous materials. In addition, all development subject to the requirements of the State 
Environmental Policy Act, RCW 43.21C, shall be evaluated to determine whether adverse 
environmental impacts have been adequately mitigated. 

DRAFT

27



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 7 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

Section 7. Ordinance No. 2741 §3 (part), as codified at TMC Section 18.24.080, “Basic 
Development Standards”, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

18.24.080 Basic Development Standards 

Development within the Regional Commercial district shall conform to the following 
listed and referenced standards. In the Tukwila International Boulevard corridor, there are 
circumstances under which these basic standards may be waived (see TMC 18.60.020).  

RC BASIC DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Lot area per unit (multifamily, except senior 
citizen housing), minimum 

2,000 sq. ft. 
Where height limit is 6 stories: 622 sq. ft. Where 

height limit is 10 stories: 512 sq. ft. 

Setbacks to yards, minimum: 

• Front 20 feet 

• Second front 10 feet 

• Sides 10 feet 

• Sides, if any portion of the yard is within 50
feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

Ratio of 1.5:1 setback 
(for every 1.5 feet of bldg. 

height, setback 1 foot from 
property line) min. of 10 

feet and a max. of 30 feet 

When 3 or more stories 30 feet 

• Rear 10 feet 

• Rear, if any portion of the yard is within 50 feet
of LDR, MDR, HDR

Ratio of 1.5:1 setback 
(for every 1.5 feet of bldg. 

height, setback 1 foot from 
property line) min. of 10 

feet and a max. of 30 feet 

When 3 or more stories 30 feet 

Refer to TMC 18.52, “Landscape Requirements,” Table A, for perimeter and parking lot landscaping 
requirements. 

Height, maximum 3 stories or 35 feet 

Recreation space 200 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 
(1,000 sq. ft. min.) 

Recreation space, senior citizen housing 100 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 

Off-street parking: 

• Residential (except senior citizen housing) See TMC 18.56, Off street Parking/Loading 
Regulations 

• Office 3 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Retail 2.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area 
minimum 

• Manufacturing 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Warehousing 1 per 2,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Other uses, including senior citizen housing See TMC 18.56, Off-street Parking & Loading 
Regulations 

Conversion to Residential  See TMC 18.50.230, Residential Conversions 

Performance Standards: Use, activity and operations within a structure or a site shall comply with (1) 
standards adopted by the Puget Sound Air Pollution Control Agency for odor, dust, smoke and other 
airborne pollutants, (2) TMC 8.22, "Noise", and, (3) adopted State and Federal standards for water 
quality and hazardous materials. In addition, all development subject to the requirements of the State 

DRAFT

28



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 8 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

Environmental Policy Act, RCW 43.21C, shall be evaluated to determine whether adverse 
environmental impacts have been adequately mitigated. 

Section 8.  Ordinance No. 2741 §3 (part), as codified at TMC Section 18.26.080, “Basic 
Development Standards,” is hereby amended to read as follows: 

18.26.080 Basic Development Standards 

Development within the Regional Commercial Mixed Use District shall conform to the 
following listed and referenced standards: 

RCM BASIC DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Lot area per unit (multifamily, except senior 
citizen housing), minimum 

3,000 ft 

Setbacks to yards, minimum: 

• Front 20 feet 

• Second front 10 feet 

• Sides 10 feet 

• Sides, if any portion of the yard is within 50 feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

1st Floor 10 feet 

2nd Floor 20 feet 

3rd Floor 30 feet 

• Rear 10 feet 

• Rear, if any portion of the yard is within 50 feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

1st Floor 10 feet 

2nd Floor 20 feet 

3rd Floor 30 feet 

Refer to TMC Chapter 18.52, “Landscape Requirements,” Table A, for perimeter and parking lot 
landscaping requirements. 

Height, maximum 3 stories or 35 feet 

Recreation space 200 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 
(1,000 sq. ft. min.) 

Recreation space, senior citizen housing 100 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 

Off-street parking: 

• Residential (except senior citizen housing) See TMC 18.56, Off street Parking/Loading 
Regulations 

• Office 3 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area  minimum 

• Retail 2.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Manufacturing 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Warehousing 1 per 2,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Other uses, including senior citizen housing See TMC 18.56, Off-street Parking & Loading 
Regulations 

 Conversion to Residential  See TMC 18.50.230, Residential Conversions 

Performance Standards:  Use, activity and operations within a structure or a site shall comply with (1) 
standards adopted by the Puget Sound Air Pollution Control Agency for odor, dust, smoke and other 
airborne pollutants, (2) TMC 8.22, "Noise", and, (3) adopted State and Federal standards for water 
quality and hazardous materials.  In addition, all development subject to the requirements of the State 
Environmental Policy Act, RCW 43.21C, shall be evaluated to determine whether adverse 
environmental impacts have been adequately mitigated. 

DRAFT

29



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 9 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

Section 9.  Ordinance No. 2741 §3 (part), as codified at TMC Section 18.40.080, “Basic 
Development Standards”, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

18.40.080 Basic Development Standards 

Development within the Tukwila Valley South District shall conform to the following 
listed and referenced standards: 

TVS BASIC DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Lot area per unit (multifamily, except senior 
citizen housing), minimum 

2,000 sq. ft. 

Setbacks to yards, minimum: 

• Front 25 feet 

• Second front 12.5 feet 

• Sides 5 feet 

• Sides, if any portion of the yard is within 50 feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

1st Floor 10 feet 

2nd Floor 20 feet 

3rd Floor 30 feet 

• Rear 5 feet 

• Rear, if any portion of the yard is within 50 feet of LDR, MDR, HDR

1st Floor 10 feet 

2nd Floor 20 feet 

3rd Floor 30 feet 

Refer to TMC 18.52, “Landscape Requirements,” Table A, for perimeter and parking lot landscaping 
requirements. 

Height, maximum 115 feet 

Recreation space 200 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 
(1,000 sq. ft. min.) 

Recreation space, senior citizen housing 100 sq. ft. per dwelling unit 

Off-street parking: 

• Residential (except senior citizen housing) See TMC 18.56, Off street Parking/Loading 
Regulations 

• Office 3 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Retail 4 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Manufacturing 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Warehousing 1 per 2,000 sq. ft. usable floor area minimum 

• Other uses, including senior citizen housing See TMC 18.56, Off-street 
Parking & Loading Regulations 

 Conversion to Residential  See TMC 18.50.230, Residential Conversions 

Performance Standards: Use, activity and operations within a structure or a site shall comply with (1) 
standards adopted by the Puget Sound Air Pollution Control Agency for odor, dust, smoke and other 
airborne pollutants, (2) TMC 8.22, "Noise", and, (3) adopted State and Federal standards for water 
quality and hazardous materials. In addition, all development subject to the requirements of the State 
Environmental Policy Act, RCW 43.21C, shall be evaluated to determine whether adverse 
environmental impacts have been adequately mitigated. 

Section 10.  Ordinance No. 2741 §3 (part), as codified at TMC Section 18.41.090, 
“Basic Development Standards,” Table 18.41.090, “Tukwila South Overlay Residential 
Development Standards,” is hereby amended to read as follows: 

DRAFT

30



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 10 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

Table 18.41.090 
Tukwila South Overlay Residential Development Standards 

Standard 

TSO 
Townhouses 
& Low-rise 

(3 stories or 
less) 

TSO 
Mid-rise 

(4-7 
stories) 

TSO 
High-rise 

(8 or more 
stories) 

Setbacks/yards, minimum (feet) 

Front1 

Arterial streets 15 15 15 

All other streets 10 10 10 
Side2 

Up to 3rd story 5 53 53 

4th story and above n/a 154 154 
Rear3 

Up to 3rd story 5 53 53 

4th story and above n/a 154 154 

1 In the event modification is pursued under TMC 18.41.100, front setbacks 
may be reduced to no less than 5 feet. 

2 Structures or portions of structures containing multi-family dwelling units that 
have solar access only from a side or rear setback-facing window(s) must 
be set back at least 15 feet from side and rear property lines. Structures 
must also maintain at least 15 feet of separation from adjacent structure 
elevations that provide the only solar access for a multi-family dwelling unit. 
See the Tukwila South Residential Guidelines for a graphic example. 

3 When adjacent to a townhouse, the minimum setback is 15 feet. 
4 When adjacent to a townhouse, the setback for portions of a structure taller 

than 35 feet must increase by 1 foot for each additional 1 foot in building 
height. 

Building height, maximum (feet) 

Building Height 45 85 125 

Standard 

TSO 
Townhouses 
& Low-rise 

(3 stories or 
less) 

TSO 
Mid-rise 

(4-7 
stories) 

TSO 
High-rise 

(8 or more 
stories) 

Outdoor lighting height, maximum (feet) 

Light poles in parking areas 20 20 20 

Light poles along pedestrian 
walkways, trails, plazas, building 
entries, and other pedestrian-
oriented areas 

12 12 12 

Building wall-mounted lighting 15 15 15 

Building mounted lights fully 
recessed into the underside of a 
ceiling, soffit, or overhang 

No limit No limit No limit 

Building length, maximum (feet) 

Maximum building length 200 200 200 
Recreation space per unit, minimum square footage (see TMC 18.41.090.3 
for more information)7,8 

Recreation space 

Residential development must provide 
on-site9 and off-site10 recreation space at 
the following standard: 

• 200 square feet total.
o 75 square feet per unit, on-site.
o 125 square feet per unit, off-site.

DRAFT

31



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 11 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

7 Senior citizen housing must provide 100 square feet of recreation space per 
unit. 

8 Developments with 10 or more dwelling units must provide a children’s play 
area in the on-site recreation space. A children’s play area is not required 
for senior citizen housing or if the proposed structure or related 
development project is within 1/4 mile, measured along constructed 
sidewalks and/or trails of the perimeter, of a recreation facility for children 
that is open to residents of the proposed structure. 

9 Recreation area provided on-site must be functional space for active and 
passive recreation purposes and located within the same parcel or tract as 
the proposed development. 

10 The Director may approve the required off-site recreation area to be located 
on-site provided that the recreation space meets the design guidelines set 
forth in this chapter. If off-site recreation space is approved to be located 
on-site, that space must be active outdoor recreation space. 

Parking spaces per dwelling unit, minimum 

Studio 1 1 1 

1-bedroom 1 1 1 

2-bedroom 1.5 1.5 1.5 

3-bedroom 2 2 2 

 Conversion to Residential 
 See TMC 18.50.230, 

Residential Conversions 

Section 11.  Regulations Established.  TMC Section 18.50.230, “Residential 
Conversions,” is hereby established to read as follows: 

18.50.230 Residential Conversions 

A. Applicability.

1. Conversion of nonresidential space to residential units is subject to

additional standards listed in TMC 18.50.230(B). These standards do not apply to: 

a. Buildings which have not received certificate of occupancy at least

three years prior; 

b. Conversion to emergency shelters, transitional housing, emergency

housing or permanent-supportive housing; 

c. Ground floor space required as part of a mixed use development

adjacent to designated major pedestrian corridors (figure 61); and 

d. Buildings within zoning districts where residential development is not

permitted. 

B. Additional Standards.

1. Density: In zoning districts with a maximum unit density standard,

converted buildings may exceed the density limit by up to 50%. 

2. Parking: No additional parking is required for conversion of non-residential

space to residential use. Parking shall not be removed from the site if it contains, or 

would contain after removal, fewer parking stalls than would otherwise be required for 

the site’s uses. 

DRAFT

32



2025 Legislation: Residential Conversions Page 12 of 12 

Version: 4/9/25 
Staff: N. Tabor 

3. Design: No additional exterior design or architectural requirements shall be

required beyond those deemed by the Director to be necessary for health and safety. 

4. Nonconformity: No nonconforming aspects of the existing building shall

prevent new residential conversions, unless the Director determines the nonconformity 

is causing a significant detriment to the surrounding area. If determined to be the case, 

the decision shall be provided with written findings. 

Section 12.  TMC Figure 18-61, “Major Pedestrian Corridor,” is hereby established as 
seen in Exhibit A. 

Section 13.  Corrections by City Clerk or Code Reviser Authorized.  Upon 
approval of the City Attorney, the City Clerk and the code reviser are authorized to make 
necessary corrections to this ordinance, including the correction of clerical errors; 
references to other local, state or federal laws, codes, rules, or regulations; or ordinance 
numbering and section/subsection numbering. 

Section 14.  Severability.  If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
phrase of this ordinance or its application to any person or situation should be held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional for any reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to any other person or situation. 

Section 15.  Effective Date.  This ordinance or a summary thereof shall be published 
in the official newspaper of the City, and shall take effect and be in full force five days 
after passage and publication as provided by law.   

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TUKWILA, WASHINGTON, at 
a Regular Meeting thereof this _______ day of ___________________, 2025. 

ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 

Andy Youn-Barnett, CMC, City Clerk Thomas McLeod, Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM BY: Filed with the City Clerk: 
Passed by the City Council: 
Published: 
Effective Date: 
Ordinance Number: 

Office of the City Attorney 

Exhibit A: Figure 18-61, “Major Pedestrian Corridor” 

DRAFT

33



Exhibit A, Figure 61 Major Pedestrian Corridor 

DRAFT

34



Date: January23, 2025
Time: 6:30p.m. 
Location: HybridMeeting -viaMicrosoftTeams / Public, In-PersonAttendance,  

CouncilChambers, 6200SouthcenterBlvd., Tukwila, WA98188

I. CalltoOrder
ChairProbstcalledtheTukwilaPCmeetingtoorderat6:35p.m. 

II. RollCall
ThePCSecretarytookrollcall. 

Present: ChairMartinProbst; ViceChairAnnDurant; CommissionersLouise
Strander, AlexKaehler, RichardMcLelandWieser, andJacobHalverson

ExcusedAbsence: CommissionerJaneHo

Staff:DirectorNoraGierloff, AmericanInstituteofCertifiedPlanners (AICP), Departmentof
CommunityDevelopment (DCD); LongRangePlanningManagerNancyEklund, AICP,  
DCD; DevelopmentSupervisorMaxBaker, AICP, DCD; SeniorPlannerNeilTabor, AICP,  
DCD; andPCSecretaryWynettaBivens,DCD

III. AmendmentoftheAgenda
Nochangestotheagendawererequested. 

IV. ApprovalofMinutes
CommissionerHalversonmovedtoadoptthe12/12/24Minutes. CommissionerDurant
secondedthemotion. CommissionerKaehlerrecusedhimselfduetoabsence.Motion
carried. 

V. WrittenGeneralPublicComments
Nosubmittals. 

VI. OldBusiness
None

1 35



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page2

VII.NewBusiness

PUBLICHEARING

1. Shelter, Transitional, Emergency, Permanent (STEP) HousingChanges

FILENUMBER: L24-0026, E25-0001
PURPOSE: Codeamendmenttocomplywithstatelaw.  
LOCATION: Non-ProjectAction/Citywide

SeniorPlannerNeilTaborgavethepresentationforstaff. HeprovidedbackgroundonSTEPHousing
andthepurposeofthepublichearing.HesaidthatlegislaturenarrowedrestrictionsfortheSTEP
Housingtypes, whichresultedintheallocationofcertainhousingtargets. TheCityofTukwila
previouslyadoptedcodeamendmentstorecognizetheSTEPHousingtypes. In2021,theState
legislaturepassedHB1220whichsetsrequirementsforSTEPHousing. Thefollowinghousingtypesare
notincluded: 

RestrictedHousing

StaffnotedthattheState, PugetSoundRegionalCouncil, andCountywideKingCountyeach
developmentregulationsdonotmeetrequirements. Staffwentoverthe

proposedstandardsandwalkedthroughtheSTEPhousingrequirementsinwhichtheCityofTukwilais
notincompliance. 

whilemaintainingreasonableoccupancyandspacingrequirements, staffproposetoamendTMC
18.50.250, 18.50.260andTable18-2TukwilaUrbanCenter (TUC) LandUsesAllowedbyDistrict

StaffaddressedclarifyingquestionsfromthePC. 

Recommendation
StaffarerequestingthatthePlanningCommissionforwardarecommendationforadoptionofthedraft
codeamendmentstotheCityCouncil (CC) fortheirreview.  

PublicHearing
ChairProbstopenedthepublichearing.  

Staffnotedthattherewerenopublichearingcommentslettersreceived. 

Therewasnopublictestimony. 

ChairProbstclosedthepublichearing. 

236



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page3

Deliberations/Motion
Therewasnodeliberation. 

theirreview. CommissionerDurantsecondedthemotion. Motioncarried. 

PUBLICHEARING

2. PhasedBindingSiteImprovementPlans (BSIP)  

FILENUMBER: L25-0001, E25-0002
PURPOSE: Codeamendmenttoremovedevelopmentagreementrequirement. 
LOCATION: Non-ProjectAction/Citywide

SeniorPlannerNeilTaborgavethepresentationforstaff. Heprovidedbackgroundontheproposed.  
BSIPsareplansusedtoprovideflexibilityforsaleofpropertywithinalargerdevelopment. These
developmentsoftenrelyonsharedfeatureswithinthelargersite, suchas: Parking; accesspoints;  
landscaping; utilities; refusecollectionareas; etc. PhasedBSIPsimprovementplansandproposalsto
developinphasesarerequiredtoenterintoadevelopmentagreementinadditiontocompletingthe
BSIP.  

TherequirementforphasedBSIPstoexecuteadevelopmentagreementislistedintheTukwila
MunicipalCode (TMC) 17.16.030(C) PreliminaryBindingSiteImprovementPlan (BSIP) approval,  
approvalCriteria.  

Staffproposedremovingthesoleprovisionrequiringtheexecutionofadevelopmentagreementwith
phasedBSIPs. Referencesrequiringconsistencywithapprovalsandoptionstoapplyconditionsand
limitationsforphasedBSIPsarealreadypresentinothersectionsofTMC17.16andthroughoutthe
TMC. 

StaffaddressedclarifyingquestionsfromthePC. 

Recommendation
StaffarerequestingthatthePlanningCommissionforwardarecommendationfortheadoptionofthe
draftcodeamendmentstotheCCfortheirreview.  

PublicHearing
ApublichearingcommentletterwasreceivedfromSamPace, HousingSpecialist.  
SeattleKingCountyREALTORS, onJanuary22, 2025, whichwasdistributedtothePConJanuary22,  
2025. 

ChairProbstopenedthepublichearing.  

Therewasnopublictestimony. 

ChairProbstclosedthepublichearing. 

Deliberations/Motion
Therewasnodeliberation. 

3 37



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page4

CommissionerDurantmovedtoadopt recommendationsandforwardittotheCCfortheir
review. CommissionerMcLelandWiesersecondedthemotion. Motioncarried. 

PUBLICHEARING

3. TownhousesintheTUC

FILENUMBER: L25-0003, E25-0004
PURPOSE: Codeamendmenttoupdateresidentialallowances.  
LOCATION: Non-ProjectAction/Citywide

SeniorPlannerNeilTaborgavethepresentationforstaff. Heprovidedbackgroundontheproposed. He
statedthisitemisontownhouseallowancesintheTUC, whichisaregionalcenterdesignatedwiththe
PugetSoundRegionalCouncilforfuturegrowth, capitalizingontransitinfrastructuretoreducecar
dependency. ThiscenterdesignationundertheRegionalGrowthStrategymakesthisareaeligiblefor
additionalfundingthathelpsthemtransitionintodenser, transit-orienteddevelopmentovertime. It
coversPierce, Snohomish, King, andKitsapCounties. Withinthesecounties,centerscanbedesignated
wherehighcapacitytransitexists,encouragingthegreateruseofpublictransportation. 

Partoftherequirementforacenteristhatitplans

Staffproposesremovingtownhousesfromthelistofalloweddwellingtypesintable18-2, affectingthe
TUCRegionalCenter, TransitOrientedDevelopment,PondandportionsoftheWorkPlaceZoning
Districts. 

StaffarerequestingthatthePCforwardarecommendationfortheadoptionoftheproposedredlined
languagetotheCCfortheirfurtherreviewandadoption. 

StaffaddressedclarifyingquestionsfromthePC. 

CommissionerHalversonstatedthathewouldproposeanamendment, statingheisagainstremoving
townhomesfromtheuseintheTUC. 

CommissionerDurantstateditwasmentionedinthestaffbackgroundreportthatregionalgrowth
strategydesignationmakestheareaeligibleforadditionalfunding. Sheaskediftownhomesarenot

unitswhethertheCityofTukwilawouldbe
ineligibleforthefundingorwoulditbelessaccessibletothecity. Shesaidthechangemakessenseto
her. Mr. Taborstatedindividualuseallowanceswouldbeunlikelytoeliminatefundingeligibility, but
regulationsshouldbeconsistentwithgoalsforthecenter.  

CommissionerHalversoninquiredwhetherthereisanyconcepttobuildsmalltownhouse-style
residential.  

Staffsaidtheyidentifiedthisassomethingthatisinconsistentwiththeoverallgoals, whichiswhythey
areproposingit.  

438



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page5

Staffproposesremovingtownhousesfromthelistofalloweddwellingtypesintable18-2, affectingthe
TukwilaUrbanCenter (TUC) RegionalCenter, TransitOrientedDevelopment, Pondandportionsofthe
WorkPlaceZoningDistricts. 

Therewasextensivediscussionaroundthissubject. 

Recommendation
StaffarerequestingthatthePlanningCommissionforwardarecommendationfortheadoptionofthe
draftcodeamendmentstotheCCfortheirreview.  

PublicHearing
ChairProbstopenedthepublichearing

Staffnotedthattherewerenopublichearingcommentslettersreceived. 

Therewasnopublictestimony

ChairProbstclosedthepublichearing

Deliberations/Motion
Therewasnodeliberation. 

accessoryuseintheTukwilaUrbanCenterinsteadofstrikingthem. CommissionerStranderseconded
themotion. Therewasasplitdecision. 

CommissionerHalversonmovedtoforwardthesplitrecommendationtotheCCfortheirreview.  
CommissionerStandersecondedthemotion. Motioncarried. 

StaffaskedforclarificationonhowthePCwouldliketoformatthesuggestedamendmenttochange
Townhousestoanaccessoryuse. ThePCdeferredthedecisiontostaff. 

PUBLICHEARING

4. ResidentialConversions

FILENUMBER: L25-0002, E25-0003
PURPOSE: Codeamendmenttocomplywithchangesinstatelaw.  
LOCATION: Non-ProjectAction

SeniorPlannerNeilTaborgavethepresentationforstaff. Heprovidedbackgroundontheproposed
amendment. Hestatedthatinthe2023legislativesession, HB1042passedandbroadenedallowances
forconversionsofnon-residentialtoresidentialspaces.PertheMunicipalResearchandServicesCenter
MRSC) hewentoverseveralofthekeyprovisionsoftherequirements. Hesaidtheintentwiththiscode

amendmentistoprovideconsistencywiththestatelaw. Also, toprovidefutureallowancesthatthecity
canstillmaintaingroundfloorcommercialspacethatisrequiredinnewusedevelopmentandidentified
areas. 

5 39



PlanningCommissionMinutes
1/23/25
Page6

Intheinterestinpreservingtheabilitytomaintaingroundfloorcommercialspacestaffproposetoadopt
amajorpedestriancorridoralongTukwilaInternationalBoulevard (TIB). 

StaffproposedadoptinganewcodesectionwithintheTukwilaMunicipalCode (TMC). TMC18.50.230
forResidentialConversion. 

StaffaddressedclarifyingquestionsfromthePC. 

Recommendation
StaffarerequestingthatthePlanningCommissionforwardarecommendationfortheadoptionofthe
draftcodeamendmentstotheCCfortheirreview.  

PublicHearing
ChairProbstopenedthepublichearing.  

Staffnotedthattherewerenopublichearingcommentslettersreceived. 

Therewasnopublictestimony. 

ChairProbstclosedthepublichearing. 

Deliberations/Motion

Therewasnodeliberation. 

amendmentsandforwardthemtothePCfortheirreview. CommissionerDurantsecondedthemotion.  
CommissionerHalversonabstained. Motioncarried. 

VIII. 
Comingup: (maymeetmorethanonceamonthsomemonths) 

February -AdditionalMiddleHousing (MH) presentationanddiscussion. Reviewofmapping
anddensitystandards. Introtodesignandroadstandards. 
March -PublicHearing #1onMH, focusingongeneraldevelopmentregulationsandconsistency. 
April -PublicHearing #2onMHfocusingonobjectivedesignstandardsandroadstandards. 
MovethefullpackagetotheCityCouncil, aimingforadoptionbytheendofJune. 
QuickQuackCarwashhasreceiveddesignreviewapproval.Nowtheyareworkingonsomeother
issues. 

IX.Adjournment
CommissionerMcLelandWiesermovedtoadjourn.Commissioner. Durantsecondedthemotion.  

Adjournedat:7:59p.m. 

Submittedby:WynettaBivens
PCSecretary

640


	PCD 4-14 Front Sheet.pdf
	 Hannah Hedrick, Chair
	 Jovita McConnell
	 Verna Seal
	Item
	Recommended Action
	Page
	BUSINESS AGENDA
	MISCELLANEOUS


	AGENDA

	Blank Page



